



RHODE ISLAND GOVERNMENT REGISTER

PUBLIC NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULEMAKING

AGENCY: Executive Office of Health and Human Services

DIVISION: Medicaid Policy Unit

RULE IDENTIFIER: 210-RICR-40-10-1 ERLID # 9486

REGULATION TITLE: Medicaid Managed Care Service Delivery Arrangements

RULEMAKING ACTION: Regular promulgation process

Direct Final: N/A

TYPE OF FILING: Amendments

TIMETABLE FOR ACTION ON THE PROPOSED RULE: Public comment will end on **Thursday, September 6, 2018**.

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED RULE: The purpose of this rule is to describe the managed care service delivery options for Elders and Adults with Disabilities and long-term care beneficiaries. The purpose is also to set forth in clear language the respective roles and responsibilities of the Executive Office of Health and Human Services (EOHHS), beneficiaries, health plans, and other contractual entities related to managed care enrollment and service delivery for Elders and Adults with Disabilities and long-term care beneficiaries.

COMMENTS INVITED:

All interested parties are invited to submit written or oral comments concerning the proposed regulations by **Thursday, September 6, 2018** to the address listed below.

ADDRESSES FOR PUBLIC COMMENT SUBMISSIONS:

All written comments or objections should be sent to the Secretary of EOHHS, Eric J. Beane, c/o Elizabeth Shelov, Medicaid Policy Office, Rhode Island Executive Office of Health & Human Services

Mailing Address: Virks Building, Room 315, 3 West Road, Cranston, RI 02920

Email Address: Elizabeth.Shelov@ohhs.ri.gov

WHERE COMMENTS MAY BE INSPECTED: **Mailing Address:** Executive Office of Health & Human Services, Virks Building, Room 315, 3 West Road, Cranston, RI 02920

PUBLIC HEARING INFORMATION:

If a public hearing is requested, the place of the public hearing is accessible to individuals who are handicapped. If communication assistance (readers/ interpreters/captioners) is needed, or any other accommodation to ensure equal participation, please call (401) 462-6266 or RI Relay 711 at least three (3) business days prior to the meeting so arrangements can be made to provide such assistance at no cost to the person requesting.

FOR FUTURE INFORMATION CONTACT: Elizabeth Shelov, Interdepartmental Project Manager, Medicaid Policy Office, Rhode Island Executive Office of Health & Human Services, Virks Building, Room 315, 3 West Road, Cranston, RI 02920 or Elizabeth.Shelov@ohhs.ri.gov



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Regulatory Analysis Summary and Supporting Documentation:

Societal costs and benefits have not been calculated in this instance. To be in conformity with federal law, regulations, guidance and state law, the state has little discretion in promulgating this rule. For full regulatory analysis or supporting documentation see agency contact person above.

Authority for This Rulemaking: In 2005, R.I. Gen. Laws § 40-8.5-1.1 authorized the Medicaid agency to establish mandatory managed care delivery systems for adults nineteen (19) years of age or older who are eligible on the basis of participation in the Supplemental Security Income (SSI) program or an SSI-related characteristic associated with age or a disability and income. In Rhode Island, persons with SSI-related characteristics are eligible under the Medicaid State Plan option for low-income elders and adults living with disabilities (EAD) in accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 40-8.5. The requirements for adults in associated special eligibility groups that have unique financial (e.g., SSI Protected Status) or clinical criteria (e.g., breast and cervical cancer coverage group) or limited benefits (e.g., partial dual eligible group and the Medicare Premium Payment Program) are also located in 210-40-05-1.6.

Regulatory Findings:

In the development of the proposed regulation, consideration was given to: (1) alternative approaches; (2) overlap or duplication with other statutory and regulatory provisions; and (3) significant economic impact on small business. No alternative approach, duplication, or overlap was identified based upon available information.

The Proposed Amendments:

The Executive Office of Health and Human Services proposes to amend these regulations in order to eliminate provisions related to the Rhody Health Options (RHO) Phase I initiative. The SFY 2019 Budget included a budget initiative that restructures the delivery system for individuals who have Medicare and Medicaid coverage (i.e., dual-eligible beneficiaries) or Medicaid coverage due to a disability, chronic condition or require an institutional level of care and receive LTSS. This redesign will achieve a more cost-effective transitional managed arrangement as a foundation for a new innovative permanent arrangement to be developed for SFY 2020. Medicaid beneficiaries participating in RHO Phase I (also known as "Neighborhood UNITY") will be transitioned into a managed FFS arrangement on October 1, 2018 when RHO Phase I ends.



STATE OF RHODE ISLAND EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

PUBLIC NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULE-MAKING

Section 210-RICR-40-10-1

“Medicaid Managed Care Service Delivery Arrangements”

The Secretary of the Executive Office of Health and Human Services (EOHHS) has under consideration amendments to the Medicaid regulations entitled, “Medicaid Managed Care Service Delivery Arrangements” - Section 210-RICR-40-10-1. (Amendments are highlighted above).

These regulations are being promulgated pursuant to the general authority contained in R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 40-8 (Medical Assistance); R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 40-6 (“Public Assistance”); R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 42-7.2; R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 42-35; and Title XIX of the Social Security Act.

Notice is hereby given in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 42-35 of the Rhode Island General Laws, as amended, that the Secretary will hold a public hearing on the above-mentioned matter at which time and place all persons interested therein will be heard. The public hearing will be convened as follows:

Monday, August 20, 2018
10:00 a.m.
Arnold Conference Center, Eleanor Slater Hospital
Pastore Complex, 111 Howard Avenue
Cranston, RI 02920

In the development of these proposed regulations, consideration was given to the following: (1) alternative approaches; (2) overlap or duplication with other statutory and regulatory provisions; and (3) significant economic impact on small businesses in Rhode Island. No alternative approach, duplication or overlap, or impact upon small businesses was identified based upon available information.

These proposed rules are accessible on the R.I. Secretary of State’s website: <http://www.sos.ri.gov/ProposedRules/>, the EOHHS website: www.eohhs.ri.gov, or available in hard copy upon request (401 462-1575 or RI Relay, dial 711). Interested persons should submit data, views, or written comments by **Thursday, September 6, 2018** to: Elizabeth Shelov, Medicaid Policy Office, RI Executive Office of Health & Human Services, Virks Building, 3 West Road, Room 315, Cranston, RI 02920 or Elizabeth.Shelov@ohhs.ri.gov.

The Executive Office of Health and Human Services does not discriminate against individuals based on race, color, national origin, sex, gender identity or expression, sexual orientation, religious belief, political belief or handicap in acceptance for or provision of services or employment in its programs or activities.

The EOHHS in the Virks Building is accessible to persons with disabilities. If communication assistance (readers /interpreters /captioners) is needed, or any other accommodation to ensure equal participation, please notify the EOHHS at (401) 462-6266 (hearing/speech impaired, dial 711) at least three (3) business days prior to the event so arrangements can be made to provide such assistance at no cost to the person requesting.

Original signed by: _____

Eric J. Beane, Secretary

Signed this 6th day of August 2018

210-RICR-40-10-1

TITLE 210 - EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

CHAPTER 40 - MEDICAID INTEGRATED HEALTHCARE COVERAGE

SUBCHAPTER 10 - MANAGED CARE SERVICE DELIVERY OPTIONS FOR ELDERS AND ADULTS WITH DISABILITIES AND LONG-TERM CARE BENEFICIARIES

Part 1 - Managed Care Service Delivery Arrangements

1.1 Overview of this Rule

- A. The purpose of this rule is describe the managed care service delivery options for Elders and Adults with Disabilities and long-term care beneficiaries. The purpose is also to set forth in clear language the respective roles and responsibilities of the Executive Office of Health and Human Services (EOHHS), beneficiaries, health plans, and other contractual entities related to managed care enrollment and service delivery for Elders and Adults with Disabilities and long-term care beneficiaries.

B. Overview of Managed Care Programs for Adults with Disabilities and Elders

| Program | Rhody Health Partners | Rhody Health Options | | Medicare-Medicaid Plan | PACE |
|---------------------------------------|--|--|--|---|--|
| Population | Elders and Adults with Disabilities who do not have Medicare or other third-party coverage and are not eligible for LTSS | Elderly and non-elderly adult Medicaid beneficiaries who do not have Medicare and are eligible for LTSS (May have other third-party coverage) | Elderly and non-elderly adults who have full Medicare (Parts A, B, and D) coverage and Medicaid Health Coverage | Elderly and non-elderly adults who have full Medicare (Parts A, B, and D) coverage and Medicaid Health Coverage | Medicaid beneficiaries age 55 and older who qualify for a nursing home level of care |
| Mandatory/ Voluntary Enrollment | Mandatory | Voluntary | Voluntary | Voluntary | Voluntary |
| Covered Services | Medicaid | Medicaid | Medicaid | Medicaid and Medicare Parts A, B, and D | Medicaid and Medicare Parts A, B, and D (if eligible) |
| Participation Criteria | Age 21 and older; and Eligible for Medicaid Health Coverage on | Age 21 and older; Eligible for Medicaid Health Coverage on the basis of the SSI | Age 21 and older; Eligible for Medicaid Health Coverage on the basis of the SSI income standard (IHCC group) | Age 21 and older; Eligible for Medicaid Health Coverage on the basis of the SSI income standard (IHCC group) or | Age 55 years and older; Meet criteria for high or highest need for a |

B. Overview of Managed Care Programs for Adults with Disabilities and Elders

| Program | Rhody Health Partners | Rhody Health Options | | Medicare-Medicaid Plan | PACE |
|--------------------------|---|---|---|---|---|
| | the basis of the SSI income standard (IHCC group) | income standard (IHCC group) or the MAGI income standard (MAGG group); and Receive LTSS | or the MAGI income standard (MACC group); and Enrolled in Medicare Part A, enrolled in Medicare Part B, and eligible to enroll in Medicare Part D | the MAGI income standard (MACC group); and Enrolled in Medicare Part A, enrolled in Medicare Part B, and eligible to enroll in Medicare Part D | nursing facility level of care; and Meet all other requirements for LTSS |
| Populations Not Enrolled | Enrolled in Medicare Parts A and/or B; Have other third-party coverage; or Receive LTSS for more than 30 days | Reside in Tavares, Eleanor Slater, or out-of-state hospitals; or In hospice on the enrollment date | Determined eligible for Medicaid as medically needy and not receiving LTSS; Reside in Tavares, Eleanor Slater, or an out-of-state hospital; or In hospice on the enrollment date | Determined eligible for Medicaid as medically needy and not receiving LTSS Reside in Tavares, Eleanor Slater, or an out-of-state hospital; In hospice on the enrollment date; Reside out-of-state for 6 consecutive months or longer; or Eligible for the Sherlock Plan | |

B. Overview of Managed Care Programs for Adults with Disabilities and Elders

| Program | Rhody Health Partners | Rhody Health Options | Medicare-Medicaid Plan | PACE | |
|---------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------|------|--|
| | | | | | |

1.2 Definitions

A. For the purpose of this rule, the following terms are defined as follows:

1. “Appeal” means a request to review an “adverse benefit determination” based on medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, and effectiveness.
2. “Categorical eligibility” means an applicant/beneficiary included in an IHCC group who is eligible for Medicaid health coverage on the basis of income, resources, a characteristic, and/or a level of need in a mandatory or optional coverage group under the Medicaid State Plan, or who is treated as such, under the State’s Section 1115 demonstration waiver, in accordance with Title XIX. ~~It e~~Excludes persons who must spenddown to become eligible for Medicaid health coverage as medically needy.
- ~~3.~~ ~~“Communities of Care” or “CoC” means the special delivery system that provides more intensive care management within a limited network to Medicaid members enrolled in either RIt e Care or Rhody Health Partners who have Emergency Department utilization rates at or above the threshold for participation set by the Medicaid agency.~~
- ~~4.~~ ~~“Community Health Team Rhode Island” or “CHT-RI” means the primary care case management program for adults who have fee-for-service Medicaid coverage and otherwise do not have access to such services.~~
- ~~5.~~ 3. “Elders and adults with disabilities” or “EAD” means the Medicaid IHCC group established by R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 40-8.5 for adults with an SSI characteristic related to age (elders 65 years of age or older) or disability.
- ~~6.~~ 4. “Executive Office of Health and Human Services” or “EOHHS” means the state agency that is designated under the Medicaid State Plan as the Single State Agency responsible for the administration of the Title XIX Medicaid Program.
- ~~7.~~ 5. “Full dual eligible” means a beneficiary who is enrolled in Medicare Parts A and B and is eligible for Medicaid Health Coverage through an IHCC or MACC group for elders and adults with disabilities on the basis of income, resources and, when applicable, a characteristic or need for LTSS.
- ~~8.~~ 6. “Grievance” means an expression of dissatisfaction about any matter other than an action associated with an adverse benefit determination and includes complaints about the quality of care or services provided, and aspects of interpersonal relations such as rudeness of a provider or an employee or a failure to respect an enrollee’s rights.

9. 7. "Integrated Health Care Coverage Group" or "IHCC" means any Medicaid coverage group consisting of adults who are eligible on the basis of receipt of Supplemental Security Income (SSI), SSI protected status, the SSI income methodology and a related characteristic (age or disability), or as a result of participation in another federal or State program (e.g., Breast and Cervical Cancer). Includes beneficiaries eligible for community Medicaid (non-long-term care), Medicaid-funded LTSS, and the Medicare Premium Payment Program (MPP).
10. 8. "Integrated Care Initiative" or "ICI" means a Medicaid initiative that delivers integrated and coordinated services to certain Medicaid and Medicare enrolled (MME) ~~and MNM~~ beneficiaries through a managed care arrangement. The ICI includes services from across the care continuum including primary, subacute, and long-term care. Rhody Health Options (RHO) and tThe Medicare-Medicaid Plan (MMP) ~~wasere~~ established through ICI.
11. 9. "Long-term services and supports" or "LTSS" means a spectrum of services covered by the Rhode Island Medicaid program that are required by individuals with functional impairments and/or chronic illness, and includes skilled or custodial nursing facility care, as well as various home and community-based services.
12. 10. "Managed care arrangement" or "MCA" means a system that may uses capitated financing to deliver high quality services and promote and optimize health outcomes through a medical home. Such an arrangement also includes services and supports that optimize the health and independence of beneficiaries who are determined to need or be at risk for Medicaid funded LTSS. An MCA includes any arrangement under which an MCO or contracted entity is granted some or all of the responsibility for providing and/or paying for long-term care services and supports through a contractual agreement with the Medicaid program.
13. 11. "Managed care organization" or "MCO" means an entity that provides health plan(s) that integrate an efficient financing mechanism with quality service delivery, provides a "medical home" to assure appropriate care and deter unnecessary services, and emphasizes preventive and primary care.
14. 12. "Medicaid Affordable Care Coverage Groups" or "MACC" means a classification of persons eligible to receive Medicaid based on similar characteristics who are subject to the MAGI standard for determining income eligibility as outlined in ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Affordable Care Coverage Groups~~ Part 1 of Subchapter 00 of Chapter 30 of this Title.

- ~~15.~~ 13. "Medicaid and Medicare enrolled" or "MME" means full dual eligible or partial dual eligible plus beneficiaries who are receiving Medicaid ~~h~~Health ~~c~~Coverage, are enrolled in Medicare Part A, enrolled in Medicare Part B, and eligible to enroll in Medicare Part D.
- ~~16.~~ ~~"Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules" or "MCAR" means the collection of administrative rules governing the Medicaid program in Rhode Island.~~
- ~~17.~~ 14. "Medicaid health coverage" means the full scope of health care services and supports authorized under the State's Medicaid State Plan and/or Section 1115 demonstration waiver provided through an authorized Medicaid delivery system. The term encompasses the scope of health coverage available to categorically and medically needy eligible beneficiaries as well as those who are treated as such under the State's Section 1115 demonstration waiver. However, the term does not apply to partial dual eligible persons who, under the provisions of this section, qualify only for financial assistance through the MPPP to help pay Medicare cost-sharing.
- ~~18.~~ ~~"Medicaid no Medicare" or "MNM" means Medicaid beneficiaries without Medicare who meet the financial and clinical criteria for LTSS and, as such, qualify for enrollment in RHO.~~
- ~~19.~~ 15. "Medically necessary service" means a medical, surgical, or other service required for the prevention, diagnosis, cure, or treatment of a health-related condition including any such services that are necessary to prevent or slow a decremental change in either medical or mental health status.
- ~~20.~~ 16. "Medically needy" means an IHCC group for elders and persons with disabilities who have high medical expenses and income that exceeds the maximum eligibility threshold for Medicaid. For non-LTSS beneficiaries in this coverage group, Medicaid eligibility and coverage occur when the amount they spend on medical expenses meets the medically needy income limit established by the State. For LTSS beneficiaries, excess income must be contributed toward the cost of care. Non-LTSS medically needy beneficiaries are covered on a fee-for-service basis.
- ~~21.~~ 17. "Medicare-Medicaid Plan" or "MMP" is an integrated managed care plan under contract with the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and EOHHS to provide fully integrated Medicare and Medicaid benefits to eligible MME beneficiaries.
- ~~22.~~ 18. "Member" or "Enrollee" means a Medicaid-eligible person receiving benefits through Rhody Health Partners, ~~Rhody Health Options~~, a Medicare-Medicaid Plan, or the Program for All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly.

- ~~23.~~ 19. “Partial dual eligible” means a Medicare beneficiary who does not meet the requirements for Medicaid Health Coverage, but who is eligible for the State’s Medicare Premium Payment Program (MPPP).
- ~~24.~~ 20. “Partial dual eligible plus” means a Medicare beneficiary who is eligible for Medicaid ~~h~~Health ~~c~~Coverage as medically needy and the MPPP.
- ~~25.~~ 21. “Person-centered planning” means an individualized approach to planning that supports an individual to share his or her desires and goals, to consider different options for support, and to learn about the benefits and risks of each option. Person-centered planning places the individual at the center of decision-making. It is designed to enable people to direct their own services and supports to live a meaningful life that maximizes independence and community participation. Person-centered planning is a process that is directed by the individual, with impartial assistance and supported decision-making when helpful. Person-centered planning teams may include people who are close to the individual, as well as people who can help to bring about needed change for the person and access to appropriate services. However, at all times, the individual is empowered to decide who is part of the planning team. Person-centered planning must meet the requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 441.301(c)(1) including, but not limited to, ensuring that a person has sufficient and necessary information in a form he or she can understand to make informed choices, enabling the person to direct the process to the maximum extent possible, and conducting planning meetings at times and in locations that are convenient to the individual.
- ~~26.~~ 22. “Primary care” means an array of primary, acute, and specialty services provided by licensed health professionals that includes, but is not limited to: health promotion, disease prevention, health maintenance, counseling, patient education, various specialty services and diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic medical and behavioral health illnesses and conditions in a variety of health care settings (e.g., office, inpatient, care, home care, day care).
- ~~27.~~ 23. “Program of All Inclusive Care for the Elderly” or “PACE” means a risk-based managed care service delivery option for beneficiaries who have Medicare and/or Medicaid coverage and meet the financial and clinical criteria for a nursing facility level of long-term services and supports. Beneficiaries must be 55 years or older to participate in this option.
- ~~28.~~ 24. “Rhody Health Options” means the capitated managed care delivery system operating under contract with EOHHS to manage and coordinate Medicaid covered services and supports, including LTSS, for eligible MNM and MME beneficiaries and to coordinate Medicaid covered services with Medicare covered services for eligible MME beneficiaries.

- ~~29.~~ 25. “Rhody Health Partners” or “RHP” means the Medicaid managed care service delivery option for adults in the IHCC groups that provides primary/acute and specialty care through a medical home that focuses on prevention and promoting healthy outcomes. The rules for RHP for adults ages 19-64 in the MACC groups is are located in ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Rhody Health Partners and Enrollment Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 30 of this Title.~~
- ~~30.~~ 26. “SSI income standard” means the basis for determining Medicaid eligibility that uses the definitions and calculations for evaluating income and resources established by the U.S. Social Security Agency Administration for the Supplemental Security Income (SSI) program.
- ~~34.~~ 27. “SSI protected status” means the class of beneficiaries who retain categorical eligibility for Medicaid even though they are no longer eligible for SSI due to certain changes in income or resources.

1.3 Rhody Health Partners (RHP)

1.3.1 Authority and Scope

- A. In 2005, R.I. Gen. Laws § 40-8.5-1.1 authorized the Medicaid agency to establish mandatory managed care delivery systems for adults nineteen (19) years of age or older who are eligible on the basis of participation in the Supplemental Security Income (SSI) program (see § 15-3.5 of this Chapter) or an SSI-related characteristic associated with age or a disability and income. In Rhode Island, persons with SSI-related characteristics are eligible under the Medicaid State Plan option for low-income elders and adults living with disabilities (EAD) in accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 40-8.5. The requirements for adults in associated special eligibility groups that have unique financial (e.g., SSI Protected Status) or clinical criteria (e.g., breast and cervical cancer coverage group) or limited benefits (e.g., partial dual eligible group and the Medicare Premium Payment Program) are also located in see § 05-1.6 of this Chapter.
- B. Beneficiaries eligible in these coverage groups who do not require LTSS are sometimes referred to as “Community Medicaid” and are members of the State’s Integrated Health Care Coverage (IHCC) groups. The provisions governing eligibility set forth in ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Resource Transfer Part 1 of Subchapter 05 of this Chapter~~ and § 00-3.1.2 of this Chapter and enrollment as established herein will remain in effect unless or until replaced.
- C. IHCC group beneficiaries who are eligible on the basis of SSI income standard, do not require LTSS, and do not have third-party coverage are subject to mandatory enrollment in a Rhody Health Partners (RHP) Medicaid managed care plan. Eligible beneficiaries have the choice of two-RHP participating health plans.

1.3.2 EOHHS Responsibilities

- A. EOHHS, or its designee, is responsible for determining the eligibility of members ~~of in~~ the IHCC groups in accordance with requirements established in the applicable sections of federal and State laws, rules and regulations unless deemed eligible by virtue of receipt of SSI. In general, persons will be informed of their enrollment options at the time a determination of eligibility is made.
- B. IHCC group beneficiaries who are eligible on the basis of SSI income standard, do not require LTSS, and do not have third-party coverage are subject to mandatory enrollment in an RHP Medicaid managed care plan. EOHHS enters into contractual arrangements with the MCOs offering RHP plans that assure access to high quality Medicaid covered services and supports. EOHHS is also responsible for informing beneficiaries of their service delivery options and initiating enrollment in a participating RHP plan.

1.3.3 RHP Enrollees

- A. Enrollment in an RHP plan typically occurs no more than thirty (30) days from the date of the determination of eligibility unless ~~excluded~~ determined not eligible.
- B. Excluded from RHP enrollment. Beneficiaries in the following categories are excluded from enrollment in an RHP plan and may be enrolled in an alternative Medicaid managed care arrangement:
 1. Third-Party Coverage – SSI and EAD eligible beneficiaries who are enrolled in Medicare Parts A and/or B or have other third-party coverage are not subject to mandatory enrollment in an RHP plan.
 2. ~~Receiving Medicaid-funded LTSS—Medicaid and MME beneficiaries who require LTSS for more than thirty (30) days are voluntarily enrolled in an RHO plan. This includes newly eligible members of the IHCC groups and RHP enrollees subsequent to receipt of thirty (30) continuous days of LTSS in-plan. MME beneficiaries requiring LTSS can also enroll in the MMP if eligible.~~
 3. 2. Exempt Due to Age – SSI and EAD beneficiaries who are between the ages of nineteen (19) and twenty-one (21) are exempt from mandatory enrollment in RHP and receive all Medicaid health coverage on a fee-for-service basis.
 4. 3. Medically Needy Eligible, Non-LTSS – Beneficiaries who are determined eligible as medically needy due to excess income and resources are also exempt from enrollment in managed care. Medicaid health coverage for beneficiaries in this category is provided in accordance with the provisions of Subchapter 05 Part 2 of this Chapter.
 5. 4. The exempted and excluded populations receive all Medicaid covered services on a fee-for-service basis, unless they are otherwise eligible for another Medicaid delivery system. In addition, during the period while

awaiting plan enrollment, beneficiaries eligible for RHP receive health coverage on a fee-for-service basis.

1.3.4 RHP Enrollment Process

- A. RHP-eligible beneficiaries have the choice of two participating plans. EOHHS employs a formula, or algorithm, to assign prospective enrollees to a health plan. Eligible beneficiaries are sent a letter from EOHHS at least forty-five (45) days prior to the enrollment effective date notifying them of their health plan assignment and the enrollment effective date. The letter also includes information on their health plan choices. Beneficiaries are given at least thirty (30) days to review the health plan enrollment assignment and request a change. At the end of this timeframe, EOHHS enrolls the beneficiary, effective the first day of the following month, as follows:
1. Beneficiary Action – If the beneficiary makes a choice to change health plan assignment, EOHHS initiates enrollment, as appropriate, into the selected RHP plan.
 2. No Beneficiary Action – If a beneficiary does not respond within the allotted timeframe, the beneficiary is enrolled in the assigned RHP plan.
 3. Delivery System Changes – Enrollment into RHP is always prospective in nature. Medicaid beneficiaries are required to remain enrolled in this service delivery option, but they can request reassignment to another plan within the first ninety (90) days of enrollment. They are also authorized to transfer from one MCO to another once a year during an open enrollment period. Medicaid enrollees who challenge an auto-assignment decision or seek to change plans more than ninety (90) days after enrollment in the health plan must submit a written request to the Medicaid agency and show good cause, as provided in ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Enrollment, Part 2 of Subchapter 00 of this Chapter~~ for reassignment to another plan. A written decision must be rendered by the Medicaid agency within ten (10) days of receiving the written request and is subject to appeal, as described ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals in Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title~~. If a beneficiary becomes eligible for LTSS or Medicare, EOHHS initiates RHP disenrollment and, if eligible, offers the alternative option of enrolling in Medicaid LTSS managed care arrangements such as ~~Rhody Health Options~~, the Program for All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE), a Medicare-Medicaid Plan, or a fee-for-service (FFS) alternative.
 4. Auto Re-Assignment after Resumption of Eligibility – Medicaid beneficiaries who are disenrolled from RHP due to a loss of eligibility and who regain eligibility within sixty (60) calendar days are automatically re-enrolled, or assigned, back into the managed care service delivery option they were in previously if they do not make a plan selection. ~~regain~~

~~eligibility within sixty (60) calendar days.~~ If more than sixty (60) calendar days have elapsed, the enrollment process will follow the process established in this section.

1.3.5 RHP Member Disenrollment

A. Disenrollment from an RHP plan may be initiated by EOHHS or the plan in a limited number of circumstances as follows:

1. EOHHS Initiated Disenrollment – Reasons for EOHHS--initiated disenrollment from an RHP plan include but are not limited to:
 - a. Death;
 - b. No longer Medicaid eligible;
 - c. Eligibility error;
 - d. Enrolled in Medicare or other third-party coverage;
 - e. Placement in a long-term care institution – ~~e.g.,~~ such as a nursing facility – for more than thirty (30) consecutive days;
 - f. Placement in Eleanor Slater, Tavares, or an out-of-state hospital;
 - g. Incarceration; ~~and or~~
 - h. Eligibility for Medicaid LTSS in the community or in a facility.
2. Member Disenrollment Requested by RHP plan – An RHP plan may request in writing the disenrollment of a member whose continued enrollment seriously impairs the plan's ability to furnish services to either the particular member or to other members. An RHP plan is not permitted to request disenrollment of a member due to:
 - a. An adverse change in the member's health status;
 - b. The member's utilization of medical services; or
 - c. Uncooperative behavior resulting from the member's special needs.
3. All plan-initiated disenrollments are subject to approval by EOHHS, after an administrative review of the facts of the case has taken place. Beneficiaries have the right to appeal EOHHS' disenrollment decision (see Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title). EOHHS will determine the disenrollment date as appropriate, based on the results of this review.

1.3.6 Grievances, Appeals and Hearings

- A. Federal law requires that Medicaid MCOs have a system in place for enrollees that includes a grievance process, an appeal process, and access to an administrative fair hearing through the State Administrative Fair Hearing Process. For in-plan services, RHP members must exhaust the internal MCO Level I and Level II appeals process before requesting an EOHHS hearing. Regulations governing the appeals process for out-of-plan services are found in [the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title.](#)
1. Types of Internal Appeals – The plan must maintain internal policies and procedures to conform to state reporting policies, and implement a process for logging appeals. Appeals filed with a managed care plan fall into three (3) categories:
 - a. Medical Emergency. An MCO must decide the appeal within seventy-two (72) hours when a treating provider, such as a doctor who takes care of the member, determines the care to be an emergency and all necessary information has been received by the MCO.
 - b. Non-Emergency Medical Care. The two levels of a non-emergency medical care appeal are as follows:
 - (1) For the initial level of appeal, the MCO must decide the appeal within fifteen (15) days from the date that all necessary information is dated as received by the MCO. If the initial decision is adverse to the member, then the MCO must offer the second level of appeal.
 - (2) For the second level of appeal, the MCO must make a decision within fifteen (15) days of the date that all necessary information is dated as received by the MCO.
 - c. Non-Medical Care. If the appeal involves a problem other than medical care, the MCO must resolve the appeal within thirty (30) days of the date that all necessary information is dated as received by the MCO.
 2. External Appeal. RHP members who exhaust the health plan’s internal appeal processes may choose to initiate an “external appeal,” in accordance with the Rhode Island Department of Health’s Rules and Regulations for the Utilization Review of Health Care Services (216-RICR-40-10-20). A member does not have to exhaust the third level appeal before accessing an EOHHS hearing.

3. Regulations governing the appeals process are found in ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals~~ in Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title.

1.4 RHP Benefit Package

A. The IHCC groups participating in RHP under this section receive the full scope of services covered under the Medicaid State Plan and the State’s Section 1115 waiver. Covered services may be provided through the managed care plan or through the fee-for-service delivery system if the service is “out-of-plan” – that is, not included in the managed care plan but covered under Medicaid. Fee-for-service benefits may be furnished either by the managed care provider or by any participating provider.

1. Access to Benefits – Each RHP member selects a primary care provider (PCP) who performs necessary medical care and coordinates referrals to specialty care. The PCP orders treatment determined to be medically necessary in accordance with the health plan’s policies. Prior authorization rules may apply, as required by the Medicaid agency.
2. Delivery of Benefits – In-plan services are paid for on a capitated basis.
3. Medical Necessity – The standard of "medical necessity" is used as the basis for determining whether access to a Medicaid covered service is required and appropriate. Medically necessary services must be provided in the most cost-efficient and appropriate setting and must not be provided solely for the convenience of the member or service provider.
4. Medicaid Benefits – The coverage provided through RHP is categorized as follows:

| RHP Benefits | | |
|------------------------------|------|--|
| (a) In-Plan | | (b) Out-of-Plan |
| Inpatient Hospital Care | (01) | Dental Services |
| Outpatient Hospital Services | (02) | Court-ordered Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services Ordered to a Non-network Facility or Provider |
| Physician Services | (03) | Non-Emergency Transportation Services (The health plan is required to coordinate with |

RHP Benefits

(a) In-Plan

(b) Out-of-Plan

| | | |
|---|------|---|
| | | EOHHS' non-emergency transportation broker.) |
| Family Planning Services | (04) | Nursing home Services in Excess of 30 Consecutive Days |
| Prescription Drugs | (05) | Residential Services for Beneficiaries with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities |
| Non-Prescription Drugs | (06) | Home stabilization services |
| Laboratory Services | | Center of Excellence for Opioids |
| Radiology Services | | Peer Recovery Specialist |
| Diagnostic Services | | Recovery Navigation Program (RNP) |
| Outpatient & Inpatient Mental Health and Substance Use Services | | |
| Court-ordered Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services – Criminal Court | | |
| Court-ordered Mental Health and Substance Abuse Treatment – Civil Court | | |
| Home Health Services | | |
| Emergency Room Service and Emergency Transportation Services | | |

RHP Benefits

(a) In-Plan

Nursing Home Care and
Skilled Nursing Facility
Care

Services of Other
Practitioners

Podiatry Services

Optometry Services

Oral Health

Hospice Services

Durable Medical Equipment

Group/Education Programs

Interpreter Services

Transplant Services

Adult Day Services

HIV/AIDS Non-Medical
Targeted Case
Management for People
Living with HIV/AIDS and
those at High Risk for
Acquiring HIV

AIDS Medical Case
Management

Opioid Treatment Provider
Health Home

(b) Out-of-Plan

RHP Benefits

(a) In-Plan

Preventive services,
including:

Homemaker

Minor Environmental
Modifications

Physical Therapy
Evaluation and Services

(b) Out-of-Plan

- ~~5. Communities of Care – The primary goal of Communities of Care (CoC) is to improve access to care and promote member involvement in their care in an effort to decrease non-emergent and avoidable Emergency Department (ED) utilization and associated costs. The target population for CoC is Medicaid beneficiaries who utilize the ED four (4) or more times during the most recent twelve (12) month period. RHP beneficiaries who are eligible for CoC are required to participate. A full description of the CoC is located in the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Communities of Care.~~

~~1.5 - 1.25 Reserved~~

~~1.26~~ 1.5 Integrated Care Initiative (ICI)

~~1.265.1~~ Authority and Overview

- A. In accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 40-8.13, the State's Section 1115 Waiver ~~4115~~ Demonstration, and other federal waivers and authorities, EOHHS has developed and implemented the ICI to expand access to comprehensive care management and services through ~~two~~ a managed care delivery system s options:
- ~~1. Rhody Health Options (RHO) – A voluntary program that integrates Medicaid covered services across the care continuum for beneficiaries who need LTSS and do not have Medicare (MNM), and manages and coordinates the care of certain beneficiaries who are dual eligible for Medicaid and Medicare (MME).~~
 2. 1. Medicare-Medicaid Plan (MMP) – Under the authority of a special federal Financial Alignment Demonstration program, the MMP integrates and coordinates Medicare and Medicaid covered services through a managed

care arrangement for MME beneficiaries. Enrollment is voluntary for eligible beneficiaries. The operations of the MMP are bound by a three-way agreement between EOHHS, the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), and the participating MCO.

1.265.2 EOHHS Responsibilities

- A. As the single State agency for Medicaid, EOHHS oversees administration of the program and is responsible for ensuring that eligibility determinations and enrollment procedures are conducted in accordance with applicable federal and State laws and regulations. ~~There are both MACC group (MAGI standard) and IHCC group (SSI standard) eligibility pathways that may result in enrollment in RHO for beneficiaries.~~ To enroll in the MMP, applicants must qualify as an MME in accordance with the applicable provisions set forth herein. Enrollment in PACE is a standing option for eligible beneficiaries. Applicants are processed as summarized below:
1. Eligibility Determinations – EOHHS or its designee is responsible for determining the eligibility of applicants for Medicaid and Medicaid-funded LTSS, including those who have third party coverage through Medicare. All LTSS applicants must meet financial and clinical criteria related to the need for an institutional level of care set forth in ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Overview of Medical Assistance and Institutional Care, respectively~~ Parts 5 and 6 of Subchapter 00 of Chapter 50 of this Title. The eligibility duties of EOHHS also include:
 - a. Level of Need. EOHHS applies clinical criteria to determine whether and to what extent the needs of an applicant/beneficiary require the level of care provided in an institutional setting – nursing facility, hospital, intermediate care facility for intellectual disabilities. EOHHS is also responsible for identifying beneficiaries for whom there is unlikely to be an improvement in functional/medical status.
 - b. Beneficiary Liability. EOHHS determines the amount LTSS beneficiaries must pay toward the cost of the care – beneficiary liability – through a process referred to as the post-eligibility treatment of income (PETI). All beneficiaries of Medicaid-funded LTSS are required under the Medicaid State Plan and the State’s Section 1115 Wwaiver to contribute to the cost of the services they receive to the full extent their income and resources allow, irrespective of care setting or service delivery option. Failure to make such payments may result in termination of eligibility for non-cooperation (See ~~Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Post-Eligibility Treatment of Income~~ Part 8 of Subchapter 00 of Chapter 50 of this Title).

- c. Person Centered Planning and Service Arrangements. In addition to determining eligibility and beneficiary liability for Medicaid LTSS, EOHHS is responsible for engaging beneficiaries in person-centered care planning in which the beneficiary leads an assessment and discussion of his or her needs and goals and information about various care options. This process includes the development of a service plan that corresponds to the beneficiary's needs and goals and assists beneficiaries and their families in selecting the appropriate service delivery option and making care arrangements.
2. Service Delivery Options and Enrollment – EOHHS assures that every beneficiary has access to health coverage through the service delivery options provided for in federal and State law that most appropriately meet his or her needs. Once a determination of eligibility has been made, beneficiaries are evaluated for enrollment in managed care versus fee-for service.

1.265.3 Service Delivery Options

- A. EOHHS provides the following delivery options to Medicaid beneficiaries who meet program participation criteria:
 1. ~~Rhody Health Options (RHO) – RHO is a managed care service delivery system that integrates and manages Medicaid covered services across the care continuum. The State contracts with an MCO – Neighborhood Health Plan of RI – to manage and coordinate all Medicaid State Plan and waiver services for RHO enrollees. For MNM beneficiaries, RHO integrates the full range of Medicaid services. For MME beneficiaries, RHO manages and coordinates the Medicaid wraparound services to which they are entitled, but otherwise has no impact on enrollment in Medicare Parts A and B, Medicare Advantage Plans, or Medicare Part D prescription drug coverage. Neighborhood Health Plan of RI is currently the only MCO offering an RHO plan. See § 1.27 of this Part for more information on RHO.~~
 2. 1. Medicare-Medicaid Plan (MMP) – The MMP is a managed care service delivery system designed to manage and coordinate the full spectrum of both Medicaid and Medicare services for Medicare and Medicaid (MME) adults. ~~Neighborhood Health Plan of RI is currently the only MCO offering an MMP in Rhode Island.~~ See § ~~1.44~~ 1.7 of this Part for more information on the MMP.
 3. 2. PACE – PACE is a service delivery option for beneficiaries who have Medicare and/or Medicaid coverage and meet a “high” or “highest” level of need for LTSS in accordance with ~~MCAR Section 0399.05 Part 5 of Subchapter 00 of Chapter 50 of this Title.~~ Beneficiaries must be 55 years

old or older to participate in this option. See § ~~1.70~~ 1.13 of this Part for more information on PACE.

4. 3. Fee-for-service – Beneficiaries participating in ~~RHO~~ or the MMP receive at least some of their Medicaid health coverage on a fee-for-service basis. Beneficiaries eligible for ~~RHO~~, the MMP, and PACE also have the option to obtain all of their Medicaid covered services on a fee-for-service basis. Beneficiaries participating in RHO on and before October 1, 2018 will obtain all of their Medicaid covered services on a fee-for-service basis after this date.
5. 4. Care Management Entities ~~Community Health Teams~~ provide care coordination and assistance to beneficiaries in Medicaid fee-for-service who are not eligible for enrollment in managed care. ~~The Community Health Team-Rhode Island (CHT-RI) is a Primary Care Case Management (PCCM) program for adults who have Medicaid coverage. Currently, these Medicaid members do not receive care management and are not enrolled in a health plan.~~ The Care Management Entity CHT-RI program is administered by CareLink and provides beneficiaries assistance with:
 - a. Navigating the health care system
 - b. Care management, client advocacy, and health education
 - c. Working with a person's primary care provider and
 - d. Provides ~~Links~~ to community resources.
6. 5. Participation in Care Management CHT-RI is voluntary. ~~A person can disenroll at any time on a monthly basis.~~ The State targets auto-enrolls eligible beneficiaries for care management based upon clinical need and functional status, ~~but provides them with the opportunity to opt out in person, by mail, or by telephone.~~

1.271.6 Rhody Health Options (RHO)

- A. In accordance with Section 7 of Pub. Law 18-047 enacted on June 22, 2018, Medicaid beneficiaries enrolled in RHO on and before October 1, 2018 will be placed in fee-for-service arrangements effective that date. The RHO program termination date is September 30, 2018.
- B. Medicaid beneficiaries who were enrolled in RHO on and before October 1, 2018 will continue to receive all medically necessary services as contained in § 1.4(A)(4) of this Part. The standard of "medical necessity" is used as the basis for determining whether access to a Medicaid covered service is required and appropriate.

C. Appeals: The class of Medicaid beneficiaries who were enrolled in RHO on and before October 1, 2018 and have been placed in fee-for-service arrangements will not have access to appeal rights, as stated herein, in accordance with 42 C.F.R. § 431.220 (b) and § 2.2.1(A)(7)(a) of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title. This exception is related to changes in law or policy affecting an entire class of beneficiaries.

~~1.27.1 RHO Participation Criteria~~

~~A. Medicaid beneficiaries are eligible for participation in RHO if they are twenty-one (21) years of age or older as follows:~~

~~1. RHO-eligible Enrollees: Medicaid No Medicare (MNM) – This group consists of Medicaid beneficiaries without Medicare who meet the financial and clinical criteria for LTSS. Includes Medicaid beneficiaries who have other forms of third party commercial coverage (e.g., employer, union, TRICARE). MNM beneficiaries in this group are enrolled in a plan offered by an MCO under contract with EOHHS that provides integrated, coordinated health services and supports across the care continuum, including LTSS. Beneficiaries who meet these criteria are eligible to receive Medicaid primary care – acute and subacute services – as well as long-term care through an RHO plan providing they are twenty-one (21) years of age or older and meet the applicable eligibility criteria for LTSS and a specific IHCC group or the MACC group for parents/caretakers.~~

~~2. RHO-eligible Enrollees: Medicare-Medicaid Eligible (MME) – This group consists of Medicare-Medicaid (MME) beneficiaries who are receiving Medicaid Health Coverage, enrolled in Medicare Part A, enrolled in Medicare Part B, and eligible to enroll in Medicare Part D. Includes MME and other Community Medicaid IHCC group beneficiaries who do not need LTSS but are excluded from enrollment in RHP under § 1.27.1 of this Part. MME beneficiaries have access to RHO, but only for Medicaid services that are not covered by Medicare. For MME beneficiaries, participation in RHO does not affect the scope, amount, or duration of their Medicare coverage. EOHHS began RHO enrollment in November 2013. RHO-eligible MME beneficiaries are as follows:~~

~~a. Members of the IHCC groups receiving Community Medicaid, including persons with serious and persistent mental illness, who do not need LTSS;~~

~~b. MAGI-eligible adults in the MACC group for parents/caretakers; and~~

~~c. LTSS recipients residing in institutional or home and community-based settings including those qualifying for the level of care provided in a nursing facility and intermediate care facility for persons with intellectual disabilities (ICF-ID) – e.g., nursing facility,~~

~~assisted living and I/DD group home residents as well as those residing in their own homes.~~

- ~~3. MME beneficiaries are entitled to Medicaid State Plan and Section 1115 waiver services that are not covered by Medicare. These Medicaid so-called “wraparound” services for MME beneficiaries are managed and coordinated through RHO.~~
- ~~4. Excluded Beneficiaries — Certain Medicaid beneficiaries are excluded from participating in RHO as indicated below:
 - ~~a. Beneficiaries Excluded from RHO~~
 - ~~b. Medicare beneficiaries who are not receiving Medicaid Health Coverage, including partial dual eligible beneficiaries who participate in the Medicaid Premium Payment Program as Qualified Medicare Beneficiaries (QMBs), Specified Low-Income Beneficiaries (SLMBs), and Qualifying Individuals (QIs)~~
 - ~~c. Dual Eligible beneficiaries who are not enrolled in all segments of Medicare~~
 - ~~d. Medicaid beneficiaries residing in Tavares, Eleanor Slater, or out-of-state hospitals~~
 - ~~e. Beneficiaries who are in hospice on the effective enrollment date. Enrollees who elect hospice care after they are enrolled in RHO can remain in RHO~~
 - ~~f. Medicaid and dual eligible beneficiaries who are between the ages of nineteen (19) and twenty-one (21) are exempt from mandatory enrollment in managed care and receive all Medicaid health coverage on a fee-for-service basis~~
 - ~~g. Beneficiaries who are determined eligible as medically needy for Community Medicaid due to excess income and resources are also exempt from enrollment in managed care.~~~~
- ~~5. Excluded beneficiaries receive all Medicaid covered services — including LTSS — on a fee-for-service basis, unless they are otherwise eligible for another Medicaid delivery system.~~

1.27.2 RHO Service Delivery Option

~~RHO is a managed care service delivery system that integrates and manages Medicaid covered services across the care continuum. EOHHS contracts with an MCO — Neighborhood Health Plan of RI — to manage and coordinate all Medicaid State Plan and waiver services. For MNM beneficiaries, RHO integrates the full~~

range of Medicaid services. For MME beneficiaries, RHO manages and coordinates the Medicaid wraparound services to which they are entitled, but otherwise has no impact on enrollment in Medicare Parts A and B, Medicare Advantage Plans, or Medicare Part D prescription drug coverage. Neighborhood Health Plan of RI is currently the only MCO offering an RHO plan.

1.27.3 RHO Enrollment

A. MNM and MME beneficiaries are not required to receive their Medicaid benefits through managed care and have the opportunity to opt-out of managed care prior to enrollment or after being enrolled. All enrollments into RHO are prospective in nature. Accordingly, there is no retroactive enrollment into this service delivery option. EOHHS is responsible for ensuring beneficiaries have access to the information they need to make reasoned decisions about whether to obtain their Medicaid health coverage through RHO. The enrollment process proceeds as follows:

1. Auto-assignment and Opt-Out. EOHHS sends a letter to eligible Medicaid beneficiaries explaining ICI and providing an auto-assignment into RHO. This communication also provides instruction on how to opt-out to FFS.
2. Decision Timeframe. Beneficiaries are given a reasonable timeframe of a minimum of thirty (30) days from the date the enrollment letter is sent to consider these options and make an enrollment decision.
 - a. Beneficiary Action. If the beneficiary makes an enrollment choice within the specified timeframe, EOHHS initiates enrollment accordingly.
 - b. No Action by Beneficiary. If a beneficiary does not respond within the specified timeframe, enrollment proceeds in accordance with the auto-assignment into RHO, as indicated in the written communication from EOHHS.
3. Opportunity to Change Option. Once enrolled, beneficiaries may change Medicaid delivery systems on a monthly basis. Any such changes requested are processed and take effect in accordance with the applicable EOHHS enrollment schedule. Beneficiaries who voluntarily disenroll from an RHO plan can re-enroll in the plan on a monthly basis.
4. Auto Re-Assignment after Resumption of Eligibility. Medicaid beneficiaries who are disenrolled from RHO due to a loss of eligibility are automatically re-enrolled into RHO if they regain eligibility within sixty (60) calendar days. If eligibility is regained more than sixty (60) calendar days after enrollment has elapsed, the process proceeds in accordance with § 1.27.3(A)(3) of this Part.

1.27.4 RHO Disenrollment

- A. ~~EOHHS Initiated Disenrollment EOHHS – Reasons for EOHHS disenrollment from an RHO plan include but are not be limited to:~~
- ~~1. Death;~~
 - ~~2. Loss of Medicaid eligibility;~~
 - ~~3. Loss of Medicare eligibility (if previously fully dually eligible for Medicare and Medicaid and not receiving LTSS);~~
 - ~~4. MNM beneficiary loss of LTSS eligibility;~~
 - ~~5. Eligibility error;~~
 - ~~6. Placement in Eleanor Slater Hospital, Tavares, or an out-of-state residential hospital;~~
 - ~~7. Incarceration;~~
 - ~~8. Change of state residence;~~
 - ~~9. Enrollment in PACE;~~
 - ~~10. Enrollment in the Medicare-Medicaid Plan; and~~
 - ~~11. Opt-out to FFS.~~
- B. ~~Managed Care Entity Member Disenrollment Request – The RHO plan may request in writing that a member be disenrolled. Such a request must be made on the grounds that the member’s continued enrollment seriously impairs the entity’s capacity to furnish services to either the particular member or other members. EOHHS does not permit disenrollment requests based on:~~
- ~~1. An adverse change in the member's health status;~~
 - ~~2. The member's utilization of medical services; or~~
 - ~~3. Uncooperative behavior resulting from the member's special needs.~~
- C. ~~Disenrollment Review – All disenrollments are subject to approval by EOHHS. EOHHS determines the disenrollment date, as appropriate. Beneficiaries have the right to appeal EOHHS’ disenrollment decision (see Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals). Beneficiaries who are disenrolled receive their Medicaid benefits on a fee-for-service basis.~~

1.27.5 Grievances, Appeals and Hearings

- A. ~~RHO offers multiple opportunities for Medicaid beneficiaries to contest decisions affecting their health coverage. Regulations governing fee-for-service appeals~~

and appeals for out-of-plan services are located in the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals:

1. ~~Level I and Level II Plan Appeals~~ — For in-plan services, RHO Members must exhaust the internal managed care entity's Level I and Level II appeals process before requesting an EOHHS administrative fair hearing. The RHO plan must maintain internal policies and procedures to conform to state reporting policies, and implement a process for logging grievances and appeals. Appeals must be resolved by the RHO managed care entity within specified timeframes depending on the level of the appeals process. These timeframes are related to the date the RHO plan receives the information from all interested parties required to review and resolve the issue in dispute. Internal RHO plan appeals fall into three (3) categories:
 - a. ~~Expedited~~. The RHO plan must render a decision within seventy-two (72) hours of the date all necessary information has been received by the managed care entity when the RHO plan or a treating provider, such as a licensed physician who takes care of the member, determines that standard appeal resolution could seriously jeopardize the member's life or health or ability to attain, maintain, or regain maximum function. The plan can extend the deadline for a decision by up to fourteen (14) days if requested by the beneficiary or if the delay is in the beneficiary's best interest.
 - b. ~~Other Medical Care~~. There are two levels of non-emergency medical care appeals:
 - (1) ~~For the initial level of appeal, the managed care entity must decide the appeal within fifteen (15) days of the date all necessary information is received by the managed care entity. If the initial decision is adverse to the member, then the RHO plan must offer the second level of appeal.~~
 - (2) ~~For the second level of appeal, the RHO plan must make a decision within fifteen (15) days of the date that all necessary information has been received by the managed care entity.~~
 - c. ~~Non-Medical Care~~. If the grievance involves a problem other than medical care, the RHO plan must make a decision within thirty (30) days of the date all necessary information has been received by the plan.
2. ~~Level III – External Appeal~~ — RHO members may also choose to initiate a third level or “external appeal,” in accordance with the Rhode Island Department of Health's Rules and Regulations for the Utilization Review of

Health Care Services (216-RICR-40-10-20). A member is not required to exhaust the third level appeal before accessing an EOHHS hearing.

1.28 RHO Benefit Package

- A. RHO provides a comprehensive benefit package. For MME members, Medicare-funded or other third-party benefits, including prescription drug coverage, is continued for MME members while participating in the RHO plan. In such instances, Medicaid is the payer of last resort. The RHO plan is responsible for coordinating all Medicaid-covered services with Medicare-covered services.
1. Access to Benefits — Each MNM member selects a primary care provider (PCP) who performs the necessary medical care and coordinates referrals to specialty care. The PCP orders treatment determined to be medically necessary in accordance with the health plan’s policies. Prior authorization rules may apply, as required by the Medicaid agency.
 2. Delivery of Benefits — In-plan services are paid for on a capitated basis. Certain Medicaid-covered services are considered “out-of-plan” and are provided on a fee-for-service basis. The RHO plan is not responsible for delivering or reimbursing out-of-plan services, but the RHO plan is expected to coordinate in-plan services with out-of-plan services. Out-of-plan services are provided by existing Medicaid-approved providers who are reimbursed directly by Medicaid on a fee-for-service basis.
 3. Medical Necessity. The standard of "medical necessity" is used as the basis for determining whether access to a Medicaid covered service is required and appropriate. Medically necessary services must be provided in the most cost-efficient and appropriate setting and must not be provided solely for the convenience of the member or service provider.
 4. RHO Benefits — The coverage provided through RHO is categorized as follows:

| RHO Benefits | |
|------------------------------|--|
| (a) In-Plan | (b) Out-of-Plan |
| Inpatient Hospital Care | (01) Dental Services |
| Outpatient Hospital Services | (02) Non-Emergency Transportation Services (The health plan is required to coordinate with EOHHS’ non-emergency transportation broker) |

RHO Benefits

(a) In-Plan

(b) Out-of-Plan

~~Physical Therapy
Evaluation and Services~~

~~(03)~~

~~Residential Services for Clients with
Intellectual and Developmental
Disabilities~~

~~Physician Services~~

~~(04)~~

~~Home Stabilization Services~~

~~Care Management
Services~~

~~Family Planning Services~~

~~Prescription Drugs~~

~~Non-Prescription Drugs~~

~~Laboratory Services~~

~~Radiology Services~~

~~Diagnostic Services~~

~~Mental Health and
Substance Use Disorder
Treatment-
Outpatient/Inpatient~~

~~Home Health Services~~

~~Home Care Services~~

~~Emergency Room Service
and Emergency
Transportation Services~~

~~Nursing Home Care and
Skilled Nursing Facility
Care~~

RHO Benefits

(a) In-Plan

(b) Out-of-Plan

~~Services of Other Practitioners~~

~~Podiatry Services~~

~~Optometry Services~~

~~Oral Health~~

~~Hospice Services~~

~~Crossover Claims~~

~~Durable Medical Equipment~~

~~Adult Day Health~~

~~Nutrition Services~~

~~Group/Individual Education Programs~~

~~Interpreter Services~~

~~Transplant Services~~

~~HIV/AIDS Non-Medical Targeted Case Management for People Living with HIV/AIDS and those that are at High Risk for Acquiring HIV~~

~~AIDS Medical Case Management~~

RHO Benefits

(a) In-Plan

~~Court-ordered Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services – Criminal Court~~

~~Court-Ordered Mental Health and Substance Abuse Treatment – Civil Court~~

~~Preventive Services, including:~~

~~Homemaker~~

~~Minor Environmental Modifications~~

~~Physical Therapy Evaluation and Services~~

~~Respite~~

~~Long Term Services and Supports, including:~~

~~Homemaker~~

~~Environmental Modifications (Home Accessibility Adaptations)~~

~~Special Medical Equipment (Minor Assistive Devices)~~

~~Meals on Wheels (Home Delivered Meals)~~

~~Personal Emergency Response (PERS)~~

(b) Out-of-Plan

RHO Benefits

(a) In-Plan

Skilled Nursing Services
(LPN Services)

Community Transition
Services

Residential Supports

Day Supports

Supported Employment

RtE @ Home (Supported
Living Arrangements-
Shared Living)*

Private Duty Nursing

Supports for Consumer
Direction (Supports
Facilitation)

Participant Directed Goods
and Services

Financial Management
Services (Fiscal
Intermediary)

Senior Companion (Adult
Companion Services)

Assisted Living

Personal Care Assistance
Services

Respite

Rehabilitation Services

Opioid Treatment Provider
Health Home

(b) Out-of-Plan

~~1.29 1.28 - 1.40~~ **Reserved**

~~1.41~~ **1.7 Medicare-Medicaid Plan (MMP)**

~~1.417~~ **1 Overview**

Under the authority of a special federal ~~Financial Alignment Demonstration program~~, the MMP is designed to manage and coordinate the full spectrum of both Medicaid and Medicare services for Medicare and Medicaid (MME) adults. Enrollment is voluntary for eligible beneficiaries. A three-way agreement between EOHHS, the MCO operating the MMP, and the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) governs the organization, financing, and delivery of Medicaid and Medicare services to MME beneficiaries who choose to participate. ~~Neighborhood Health Plan of RI is currently the only MCO offering an MMP in Rhode Island.~~

~~1.417~~ **2 MMP Participation Criteria**

A. MME beneficiaries are eligible for participation in the MMP if they are age twenty-one (21) and older as follows:

1. MME Enrollees – Medicare-Medicaid beneficiaries who are receiving Medicaid ~~h~~Health ~~c~~Coverage, enrolled in Medicare Part A, enrolled in Medicare Part B, and eligible to enroll in Medicare Part D. This cohort ~~i~~includes MME and other Community Medicaid IHCC group beneficiaries as well as those who need LTSS. Eligible MME beneficiaries include:
 - a. Members of the IHCC groups receiving Community Medicaid, including persons with serious and persistent mental illness, who do not need LTSS;
 - b. MAGI-eligible adults in the MACC group for parents/caretakers;
 - c. LTSS recipients residing in institutional or home and community-based settings including those qualifying for the level of care provided in a nursing facility and intermediate care facility for persons with intellectual disabilities (ICF-ID) – ~~e.g.~~, such as nursing facility, assisted living and ID group home residents as well as those residing in their own homes; and
 - d. Persons with End Stage Renal Disease (ESRD) at the time of enrollment.
2. MME beneficiaries are entitled to Medicaid State Plan and Section 1115 waiver services that are not covered by Medicare. ~~These Medicaid so-called “wraparound” services for MME beneficiaries can also be managed and coordinated through RHO and PAGE.~~

3. Excluded Beneficiaries – Certain Medicaid beneficiaries are excluded from participating in the MMP as indicated below:
 - a. Beneficiaries ~~e~~Excluded from the MMP.
 - b. Medicare beneficiaries who are not eligible for Medicaid ~~h~~Health ~~c~~Coverage, including partial dual eligible beneficiaries who participate in the Medicaid Premium Payment Program (MPP) as Qualified Medicare Beneficiaries (QMBs), Specified Low-Income Beneficiaries (SLMBs), and Qualifying Individuals (QIs).
 - c. Dual Eligible beneficiaries who are not qualified to enroll in all segments of Medicare.
 - d. Medicaid beneficiaries residing in Tavares, Eleanor Slater, or out-of-state hospitals.
 - e. Beneficiaries who are in hospice on the effective enrollment date. Enrollees who elect hospice care after they are enrolled in the MMP can remain in the MMP.
 - f. Beneficiaries who reside out-of-state for six (6) consecutive months or longer.
 - g. Beneficiaries who are eligible for the Medicaid Buy-In Program for Working People with Disabilities (known as the “The Sherlock Plan” in Rhode Island).
 - h. Dual eligible beneficiaries who are between the ages of nineteen (19) and twenty-one (201) are exempt from enrollment in managed care and receive all Medicaid health coverage on a fee-for-service basis.
 - i. Beneficiaries who are determined eligible as medically needy for Community Medicaid due to excess income and resources are exempt from enrollment in managed care.

1.417.3 MMP Service Delivery Option

MMP participating beneficiaries receive services through a managed care arrangement operating under contract with EOHHS and CMS. MMP enrollees receive services through a health plan offered by an MCO. The operations of the MMP are bound by a three-way agreement with EOHHS and CMS to integrate the full range of Medicare and Medicaid services (primary care, acute care, specialty care, behavioral health care, and LTSS) in accordance with a rate structure that includes federal and state funding streams for all MME adults. Accordingly, the MMP must provide accessible, high-quality services and

supports focused on optimizing the health and independence of one of the most fragile Medicaid populations. Enrollment in the MMP is voluntary.

1.417.4 MMP Enrollment

- A. The MMP offers MME beneficiaries the opportunity to obtain comprehensive integrated services through a single health plan.
1. Passive or Auto-Enrollment – ~~No earlier than October 1, 2016, eligible~~ **Eligible** beneficiaries ~~who are enrolled in an RHO plan operated by the same MCO as the MMP~~ may be passively enrolled by EOHHS, or auto-enrolled, in the MMP unless they are excluded from passive enrollment on the basis of one of the following criteria:
 - a. The MME beneficiary is enrolled in a Medicare Advantage plan that is not operated by the same MCO as the MMP;
 - b. The beneficiary has been auto-enrolled by CMS into a Medicare Part D plan in the same calendar year that the MME would qualify for the MMP;
 - c. The MME is currently enrolled in comprehensive health insurance coverage through a private commercial plan or group health plan provided through an employer, union, or TRICARE; or
 - d. The beneficiary has affirmatively opted-out of passive enrollment into an MMP or a Medicare Part D plan.
 2. Opt-in Enrollment – ~~Beginning July 1, 2016, eligible~~ **Eligible** beneficiaries may be offered the option to opt into the MMP. MME beneficiaries who are not eligible for passive enrollment will be offered the opportunity to opt-in to an MMP by completing an application in writing or via phone. Individuals enrolled in PACE may elect to enroll and participate in the MMP if they choose to disenroll from PACE.

1.417.5 Enrollment Information

- A. EOHHS is responsible for ensuring that all MME beneficiaries who meet the criteria to participate in the MMP have access to the information necessary to make a reasoned choice about their coverage options. As indicated in § 1.2(A)(25) of this Part, the person-centered planning process plays a critical role in ensuring that beneficiaries are aware of the full range of service delivery options available to them based on their level of need and personal goals. Accordingly, prospective participants are sent a written communication informing them of the option to enroll in an MMP, as well as information on the availability of independent enrollment options counseling and other supports to help beneficiaries make informed enrollment decisions. Eligible individuals who opt-out of or do not enroll in an MMP have the option to enroll in ~~an RHO plan~~, PACE

if eligible, or receive all Medicaid covered services – including LTSS – on a fee-for-service basis, unless they are otherwise eligible for another Medicaid delivery system.

- B. Communications with MME beneficiaries who qualify to participate in the MMP includes information about each of the following:
1. Enrollment Opt-In and Opt-Out Process – Participation in an MMP is voluntary. MME beneficiaries eligible for passive enrollment are informed that they may choose to opt out of enrollment in the MMP and are provided with instructions on how to proceed. MME beneficiaries eligible for passive enrollment who opt-out ~~revert to RHO and~~ may choose any of the alternative service delivery options for which they may qualify. Eligible beneficiaries who are not passively enrolled are provided with instructions on how to enroll in an MMP.
 2. Decision Timeframe – Eligible beneficiaries may enroll in an operational MMP at any time up until six (6) months prior to the end of the federal demonstration under which the MMP was implemented. ~~As of July 2016,~~ The federal demonstration is scheduled to end on December 31, 2020. Information is provided about enrollment decision time-frames as follows:
 - a. Passive Enrollment. Beneficiaries eligible for passive enrollment into the MMP are sent a first notification that they will be passively enrolled between sixty (60) and ninety (90) days prior to the effective date of enrollment; a second reminder notification is sent to the beneficiary at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of enrollment. If the beneficiary makes an enrollment choice within the specified timeframe, EOHHS initiates enrollment accordingly. If a beneficiary does not respond within the specified timeframe, enrollment in the MMP proceeds in accordance with the terms specified in the initial communication from EOHHS.
 - b. Opt-in Enrollment. MME beneficiaries who are eligible for the MMP but are not passively enrolled ~~are~~ may be sent a notification that they have the option to enroll in an MMP. Opt-in enrollment requests received through the 10th day of the month will take effect on the first day of the following calendar month. Opt-in enrollment requests received on the 11th day of the month or later will take effect on the first day of the second month after the request was submitted. Beneficiaries do not need to make an enrollment decision to opt into the MMP within a specified timeframe after receiving notice from EOHHS informing them that they are eligible to enroll in the MMP. However, no new enrollments will be accepted during the six (6) months prior to the end date for the federal demonstration under which the MMP was implemented. ~~As~~

~~of July 2016, the~~ The federal demonstration is scheduled to end on December 31, 2020.

3. Opportunity to Change – Beneficiaries who are being passively enrolled or who opt-in to an MMP may cancel their enrollment any time prior to their effective enrollment date. Once enrolled, beneficiaries may change service delivery options on a monthly basis at any time, but enrollment in the MMP will continue through the end of the month. The requested change will be effective on the first day of the following month. Beneficiaries who cancel enrollment into or voluntarily disenroll from an MMP will be enrolled in fee-for-service (FFS) RHO, effective the first day of the following month. ~~Once enrolled in RHO, beneficiaries can their change service delivery option according to the disenrollment processes for RHO.~~ Beneficiaries who voluntarily disenroll from the MMP plan can choose to re-enroll in the plan on a monthly basis if they continue to be eligible for enrollment in the MMP, but they will not be passively enrolled in the MMP. Beneficiaries may also be eligible for enrollment in PACE (see § ~~4.70~~ 1.13 of this Part).
4. Auto Re-Assignment after Resumption of Eligibility – MME beneficiaries who are disenrolled from an MMP due to a loss of eligibility are eligible for re-enrollment in the plan if eligibility is reinstated and they otherwise meet the requirements for enrollment. Beneficiaries eligible for re-enrollment will be passively enrolled if they meet the requirements for passive enrollment. Otherwise, they will be offered opt-in enrollment.

1.417.6 MMP Member Disenrollment

- A. EOHHS Initiated Disenrollment – Reasons for EOHHS disenrollment from an MMP include but are not limited to:
 1. Death;
 2. No longer eligible for Medicaid;
 3. Loss of Medicare Part A and/or Part B;
 4. Enrollment into a Medicare Advantage (Part C) plan or Medicare Part D prescription drug plan;
 5. Eligibility error;
 6. Placement in Eleanor Slater Hospital, Tavares, or out-of-state residential hospital;
 7. Incarceration;
 8. Changed state of residence;

9. Enrollment in PACE; and
 10. Opt-out to fee-for-service.
- B. Beneficiaries who are involuntarily disenrolled because of incarceration are provided Medicaid coverage on a fee-for-service basis. Beneficiaries who are involuntarily disenrolled for any other reason [and remain eligible for Medicaid coverage](#) are enrolled in FFS. ~~RHO, pending a review of Medicaid eligibility criteria. Once enrolled in RHO, beneficiaries can their change service delivery option according to the disenrollment processes for RHO.~~
- C. Medicare-Medicaid Plan Disenrollment Request – The Medicare-Medicaid plan may make a written request to EOHHS and CMS asking that a particular member be disenrolled. Any such request is only considered by EOHHS and CMS when made on the grounds that the member’s continued enrollment seriously impairs the entity’s capacity to furnish services to either the particular member or other members, the member knowingly provided fraudulent information on the MMP enrollment form that materially affected his or her eligibility to enroll in the MMP, or the member intentionally permitted others to use his or her member identification card to obtain services under the MMP. EOHHS and CMS do not permit disenrollment requests based on:
1. An adverse change in the member's health status;
 2. The member's utilization of medical services;
 3. Uncooperative or disruptive behavior resulting from the member's special needs;
 4. The member exercising treatment decisions with which the MCO or the MCO’s provider(s) disagree; or
 5. Diminished or diminishing mental capacity of the member.
- D. Beneficiaries who are involuntarily disenrolled based on a written request by the MMP receive their Medicaid benefits on a fee-for-service basis.
- E. Disenrollment Review – All disenrollments are subject to approval by EOHHS and CMS. Beneficiaries have the right to appeal EOHHS’ and CMS’ disenrollment decision (see ~~Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title~~). EOHHS and CMS determine jointly the disenrollment date as appropriate.

1.417.7 Grievances, Appeals and Hearings

- A. MMP members have multiple avenues for contesting decisions that affect their health coverage, including EOHHS and CMS administrative fair hearings. The process is as follows:

1. MMP Grievances – Grievances directed toward the MMP may be internal or external.
 - a. Internal or plan level grievances. MMP members, or their authorized representatives, can file a grievance with the MCO or a participating provider at any time by calling or writing the MCO or the provider. The MCO must require providers to forward grievances to the MCO. If the MMP member is requesting remedial action related to a Medicare issue, the member must file the grievance with the MCO or the provider no later than ~~sixty~~^{sixty-nine} (69) days after the event or incident triggering the incident (see ~~Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals for information of Medicaid rules related to grievances Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title~~). The MCO must respond, orally or in writing, to an internal grievance within thirty (30) days after the MCO receives the grievance. The MCO must respond, orally or in writing, within twenty-four (24) hours whenever the MCO extends the timeframe for a decision or refuses to grant a request for an expedited grievance.
 - b. External. MMP members, or their authorized representatives, can file a grievance by contacting 1-800-MEDICARE or EOHHS. Any grievance filed with EOHHS will be reviewed by a joint EOHHS-CMS contract oversight team and be made available to the MCO.
2. MMP Appeals – The process for handling appeals varies depending on whether the beneficiary is disputing an action related to Medicaid or Medicare coverage. For services covered under Medicare Part D, MMP members must follow the appeals process established by CMS in Subparts M and U of 42 C.F.R. Part 423. For services covered by Medicare Part A, Medicare Part B, and/or Medicaid in-plan services, MMP members must complete ~~at least~~ one level of internal appeal before requesting an external review. Regulations governing the appeals process for Medicaid out-of-plan services are found in ~~Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title~~. The process for filing subsequent appeals after the first level internal appeal is as follows:
 - a. Services covered by Medicare Part A and/or B. Subsequent appeals after the first level internal appeal for traditional Medicare A and B services that are not fully in favor of the ~~e~~Enrollee will be automatically forwarded to the Medicare Independent Review Entity (IRE) by the MMP.
 - b. Services covered by Medicaid only. ~~The MMP must offer a second level internal appeal to MMP members for services covered by Medicaid only, if the first level internal appeal is not fully in favor of~~

~~the member.~~ Subsequent appeals for services covered by Medicaid only (including, but not limited to, LTSS and behavioral health) may be made to the EOHHS Hearing Office and/or to the Rhode Island External Review Entity per State regulations (216-RICR-40-10-20) after the ~~second-first~~ plan-level Appeal has been completed. If an appeal is filed with both the Rhode Island External Review Entity and the EOHHS Hearing Office, the MCO will be bound by any determination in favor of the member that is closest to the relief requested by the member. Appeals related to drugs excluded from Medicare Part D that are covered by Medicaid must be filed with the MMP in accordance with ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title,~~ and Enrollment ~~Part 2 of Subchapter 00 of this Chapter,~~ and the requirements contained herein.

- c. Services covered by both Medicare and Medicaid. After the first level internal appeal, appeals for services for which Medicare and Medicaid overlap (including, but not limited to, home health, durable medical equipment, and skilled therapies, but excluding Part D) will be auto-forwarded to the IRE by the MMP. ~~The MCO must offer a second level internal appeal to members for services for which Medicare and Medicaid overlap if the first level internal appeal is not fully in favor of the member.~~
- d. After the ~~second-first~~ plan-level appeal for Medicare and Medicaid overlapping services, a member may file a request for a hearing with the EOHHS State Fair Hearing Office. After the ~~second-first~~ plan-level appeal for Medicare and Medicaid overlap services, a member may also file a request for a hearing with the Rhode Island External Review Entity per State regulations (216-RICR-40-10-20). If an appeal is filed with both the IRE and either the Rhode Island External Review Entity or the EOHHS Hearing Office, the MCO will be bound by any determination in favor of the member that is closest to the relief requested by the member.

3. Internal appeals timeframes

- a. First Level. An MMP member must file a first-level internal appeal with the plan within ~~ninety (90)-sixty (60)~~ calendar days following the date of the notice of adverse action that generates the appeal.
- b. Standard appeals. For first-level internal appeals, the MMP must render a decision within thirty (30) calendar days of the date that the appeal request has been received by the managed care entity. ~~For second-level internal appeals, the MMP must render a decision within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date that the appeal request has been received by the managed care entity.~~ The MMP can

extend the deadline for a decision by up to fourteen (14) days if requested by the beneficiary or if the delay is in the beneficiary's best interest.

- c. Expedited appeals. For first ~~and second~~-level internal appeals, the MMP must render a decision within seventy-two (72) hours of the date that the appeal request has been received by the managed care entity when either the MMP or the member's provider determines that standard appeal resolution could seriously jeopardize the member's life or health or ability to attain, maintain, or regain maximum function. The MMP can extend the deadline for a decision by up to fourteen (14) days if requested by the beneficiary or if the delay is in the beneficiary's best interest.

1.417.8 MMP Benefit Package

A. The MMP provides a comprehensive benefit package to members that includes a full continuum of Medicare and Medicaid services as follows:

- 1. Medicare – Medicare Parts A, B, and D-funded medically necessary services.
- 2. Medicaid Services – The standard of "medical necessity" is used as the basis for determining whether access to a Medicaid covered service is required and appropriate. Medically necessary services must be provided in the most cost-efficient and appropriate setting and must not be provided solely for the convenience of the member or service provider. Medicaid services may be in-plan or out-of-plan. In-plan services are paid for on a capitated basis. Certain Medicaid-covered services are considered "out-of-plan" and are provided on a fee-for service basis. The MMP is not responsible for delivering or reimbursing out-of-plan services, but is expected to coordinate in-plan services with out-of-plan services. Out-of-plan services are provided by existing Medicaid-approved providers who are reimbursed directly by Medicaid on a fee-for-service basis. The Medicaid coverage provided through the MMP is categorized as follows:

| MMP Medicaid Benefits | | | |
|-----------------------|------------------------------|-----------------|---|
| (a) In-Plan | | (b) Out-of-Plan | |
| (01) | Inpatient Hospital Care | (01) | Dental Services |
| (02) | Outpatient Hospital Services | (02) | Non-Emergency Transportation Services (The health plan is required to |

MMP Medicaid Benefits

(a) In-Plan

(b) Out-of-Plan

| | | | |
|------|--|------|---|
| | | | coordinate with EOHHS' non-emergency transportation broker) |
| (03) | Physical Therapy Evaluation and Services | (03) | Residential Services for Clients with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities |
| (04) | Physician Services | (04) | Home Stabilization Services |
| (05) | Care Management Services | | |
| (06) | Family Planning Services | | |
| (07) | Prescription Drugs | | |
| (08) | Non-Prescription Drugs | | |
| (09) | Laboratory Services | | |
| (10) | Radiology Services | | |
| (11) | Diagnostic Services | | |
| (12) | Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Treatment- Outpatient/Inpatient | | |
| (13) | Home Health Services | | |
| (14) | Home Care Services | | |

MMP Medicaid Benefits

(a) In-Plan

(b) Out-of-Plan

~~(15)~~
14 Emergency Room Service
and Emergency
Transportation Services

~~(16)~~
15 Nursing Home Care and
Skilled Nursing Facility
Care

~~(17)~~
16 Services of Other
Practitioners

~~(18)~~
17 Podiatry Services

~~(19)~~
18 Optometry Services

~~(20)~~
19 Oral Health

~~(21)~~
20 Hospice Services

~~(22)~~

~~Crossover Claims~~

21

Durable Medical
Equipment

~~(23)~~
22 Environmental
Modifications (Home
Accessibility Adaptations)

23 Special Medical
Equipment (Minor
Assistive Devices)

MMP Medicaid Benefits

(a) In-Plan

(b) Out-of-Plan

- (24) Adult Day Health
- (25) Nutrition Services
- (26) Group/Individual Education Programs
- (27) Interpreter Services
- (28) Transplant Services
- (29) HIV/AIDS Non-Medical Targeted Case Management for People Living with HIV/AIDS and those that are at High Risk for Acquiring HIV
- (30) AIDS Medical Case Management
- (31) Court-ordered Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services – Criminal Court
- (32) Court-ordered Mental Health and Substance Abuse Treatment – Civil Court
- (33) [Telemedicine](#)
- (34-3) Preventive Services, including:
Homemaker

MMP Medicaid Benefits

(a) In-Plan

(b) Out-of-Plan

Personal Care Services

Minor Environmental Modifications

Physical Therapy Evaluation and Services

Respite

Long Term Services and Supports, including:

Homemaker

~~Environmental Modifications (Home Accessibility Adaptations)~~

~~Special Medical Equipment (Minor Assistive Devices)~~

Meals on Wheels (Home Delivered Meals)

Personal Emergency Response (PERS)

Skilled Nursing Services (LPN Services)

~~(34)~~

35

Community Transition Services

Residential Supports

Day Supports

Supported Employment

MMP Medicaid Benefits

(a) In-Plan

(b) Out-of-Plan

Rtite @ Home (Supported Living Arrangements-Shared Living)*

Private Duty Nursing

Supports for Consumer Direction (Supports Facilitation)

~~Self-Participant~~ Directed Goods and Services

Financial Management Services (Fiscal Intermediary)

Senior Companion (Adult Companion Services)

Assisted Living

Personal Care Assistance Services

Respite

Rehabilitation Services

~~(35)~~
36 Opioid Treatment Provider Health Home

~~1.42 - 1.49 Reserved~~

~~1.50~~ 1.8 Prescriptions: Generic Policy

- A. For RHP, ~~RHO~~, and MMP enrolled members, Medicaid prescription benefits must be for generic drugs. Exceptions for limited brand coverage for certain therapeutic classes may be granted if approved by the Medicaid agency, or the MCO acting in compliance with their contractual agreements with EOHHS, and in accordance with the criteria described below:

1. Availability of suitable within-class generic substitutes or out-of-class alternatives.
 2. Drugs with a narrow therapeutic range that are regarded as the standard of care for treating specific conditions.
 3. Relative disruptions in care that may be brought on by changing treatment from one drug to another.
 4. Relative medical management concerns for drugs that can only be used to treat patients with specific co-morbidities.
 5. Relative clinical advantages and disadvantages of drugs within a therapeutic class.
 6. Cost differentials between brand and generic alternatives.
 7. Drugs that are required under federal and State regulations.
 8. Demonstrated medical necessity and lack of efficacy on a case by case basis.
- B. For the MMP, the generic policy applies only to Medicaid covered drugs that are not part of the Medicare Part D formulary covered by the MMP. The MMP may cover brand name drugs as part of its Medicare Part D formulary, [in accordance with Medicare Part D guidelines](#).

~~1.51 Home Stabilization Services Policy~~

~~Home stabilization services are available for beneficiaries eligible for enrollment in RHP, RHO, or an MMP as follows:~~

~~1.51.1 No LTSS Eligibility~~

~~A. Home stabilization services are available for RHP, RHO, and MMP-eligible beneficiaries who are homeless or at-risk for homelessness or transitioning to the community from institutional settings and do not qualify for such services through any other federally-funded program administered by the State. Home stabilization services encompass a broad range of time-limited tenancy support services assisting with home find, tenancy and lease compliance, living and household management, entitlement assistance and financial counseling to health and wellness. To qualify for home stabilization services, EOHHS or the agency's authorized representative must determine that beneficiaries meet the following criteria:~~

- ~~1. Beneficiary is considered homeless or at-risk of homelessness according to the HUD Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to Housing Act of 2009;~~

2. ~~Beneficiary has history of homelessness as defined by HUD Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to Housing Act of 2009; or~~
3. ~~Ability of the beneficiary to retain current housing situation is jeopardized because non-payment of rent, unsafe living conditions, or repeated episodes of conflict in the housing community as substantiated by a housing or licensed health care provider; and~~
4. ~~Beneficiary is not receiving Medicaid-funded home stabilization services through a program administered by the State such as the Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) team operating under the auspices of the Department of Behavioral Healthcare, Developmental Disabilities and Hospitals.~~

1.51.2 LTSS Eligible

~~Access to home stabilization services for LTSS beneficiaries is provided in accordance with the applicable provisions set forth in the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Global Consumer Choice Waiver, Part 1 of Subchapter 00 of Chapter 50 of this Title related to available services and supports.~~

1.512- 1.9 Non-Emergency Transportation Policy

Responsibility for transportation services rests first with the member. If the member's condition, place of residence, or the location of the medical provider does not permit the use of bus transportation, non-emergency transportation for the Medicaid enrollee may be arranged for by EOHHS, or its agent, in accordance with the provisions established in ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Transportation Services~~ Part 2 of Subchapter 00 of Chapter 20 of this Title.

1.523- 1.10 Interpretation Services Policy

EOHHS will notify the health plan when it knows of members who do not speak English as a primary language who have either selected or been assigned to the plan. If more than fifty (50) members speak a single language, the RHP ~~or RHO~~ health plan must make available general written materials, such as its member handbook, in that language. If more than five percent (5%) or fifty (50) members, whichever is less, speak a single language, the MMP must make available general written materials, such as its member handbook, in that language. Interpreter services, including sign language interpreters, are covered for any RHP, ~~RHO~~, or MMP member who speaks a non-English language as a primary language or who is deaf or hard of hearing.

~~1.534~~ 1.11 Tracking, Follow-up, Outreach

Tracking, follow-up, and outreach services are provided by the health plan in association with an initial visit with the member's PCP, preventive visits and prenatal visits, referrals that result from preventive visits, and preventive dental visits. Outreach includes mail, phone, and home outreach, if necessary, for members who miss preventive and follow-up visits, and to resolve language, transportation, and other barriers to care.

~~1.545~~ 1.12 Mainstreaming/Selective Contracting

The mainstreaming of Medicaid beneficiaries into the broader health delivery system is an important objective of RHP, ~~RHO~~, and MMP. The MCO therefore must ensure that all of its network providers accept its members for treatment. The MCO also shall accept responsibility for ensuring that network providers do not intentionally segregate RHP, ~~RHO~~, and MMP members in any way from other persons receiving services. MCOs may develop selective contracting arrangements with certain providers for the purpose of cost containment, but shall adhere to the access standards as defined in the MCO contracts.

~~1.556~~ – ~~1.69~~ Reserved

~~1.70~~ 1.13 Program of All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE)

~~1.70~~ 13.1 Overview

PACE provides a managed plan of coordinated Medicare and Medicaid covered services from across the care continuum to certain beneficiaries age fifty-five (55) and older. The operations of PACE are bound by a three-way agreement between EOHHS, CMS, and the PACE provider to integrate the full range of Medicare (if eligible) and Medicaid services (primary care, acute care, specialty care, behavioral health care, and LTSS) for PACE participants.

~~1.70~~ 13.2 EOHHS Responsibilities

EOHHS is responsible for the eligibility and enrollment functions set forth in § ~~1.70~~ 13.4 of this Part, establishing PACE provider standards, and oversight and monitoring of all aspects of the PACE program.

~~1.70~~ 13.3 PACE Provider Responsibilities

A. The PACE provider is responsible for:

1. Point of entry identification;

2. Submitting all necessary documentation for initial determinations and reevaluations of a level of need and referral to EOHHS for a determination of financial eligibility;
3. Verifying PACE enrollment prior to service delivery;
4. Verifying and collecting required beneficiary liability (cost-share amount);
5. Providing and coordinating all integrated services;
6. Reporting changes to the PACE-eligibility status of participants; and
7. Adhering to all PACE provider requirements as outlined in the PACE Program Agreement between EOHHS and CMS, and to all credentialing standards required by EOHHS including data submission.

1.7013.4 PACE Participation Criteria

- A. To qualify as a Medicaid-eligible PACE participant, an individual must:
 1. Be fifty-five (55) years of age or older;
 2. Meet the criteria for a high or the highest need for a nursing facility level of care in accordance with ~~the Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Global Consumer Choice Waiver~~ Part 5 of Subchapter 00 of Chapter 50 of this Title; and
 3. Meet all other financial and non-financial requirements for Medicaid LTSS such as, but not limited to, citizenship, residency, resources, income, and transfer of assets.
- B. Medicaid-eligible PACE participants may be, but are not required to be, enrolled in Medicare.

1.7013.5 PACE Disenrollment

- A. Reasons for PACE Disenrollment – Reasons for disenrollment from PACE include but are not limited to:
 1. Death;
 2. Loss of Medicaid eligibility;
 3. Eligibility error;
 4. Placement in an out-of-state residential hospital;
 5. Incarceration;

6. Change of state residence;
 7. Loss of functional level of care; and
 8. Voluntary opt-out to Medicaid FFS.
- B. The PACE provider may also request in writing that a member be disenrolled on the grounds that the member's continued enrollment seriously impairs the entity's capacity to furnish services to either the particular member or other members. In such instances, EOHHS will notify the PACE provider about its decision to approve or disapprove the disenrollment request within fifteen (15) days from the date EOHHS has received all information needed for a decision. Upon EOHHS approval of the disenrollment request, the PACE provider must, within three (3) business days, forward copies of a completed Disenrollment Request Form to EOHHS and to the Medicare enrollment agency (when appropriate). The PACE provider must also send written notification to the member that includes:
1. A statement that the PACE provider intends to disenroll the member;
 2. The reason(s) for the intended disenrollment; and
 3. A statement about the member's right to challenge the decision to disenroll and how to grieve or appeal such decision.
- C. Disenrollment Requests Not Allowed. EOHHS does not permit disenrollment requests based on:
1. An adverse change in the member's health status;
 2. The member's utilization of medical services; or
 3. Uncooperative behavior resulting from the member's special needs.
- D. Voluntary Disenrollment – PACE participants may voluntarily disenroll from PACE at any time. A voluntary disenrollment from PACE will become effective at midnight of the last day of the month in which the disenrollment is requested.
- E. Disenrollment Process. Regardless of the reason for disenrollment, EOHHS is responsible for completing all disenrollment actions. Disenrollments requested by the PACE provider on the grounds that the member's continued enrollment seriously impairs the entity's capacity to furnish services to either the particular member or other members are subject to EOHHS approval. Beneficiaries who are disenrolled from PACE but retain Medicaid eligibility will be enrolled in Medicaid fee-for-service and may subsequently choose or be enrolled in an alternative service delivery if they qualify. Beneficiaries have the right to appeal EOHHS's disenrollment action (see ~~Medicaid Code of Administrative Rules, Complaints and Appeals Part 2 of Subchapter 05 of Chapter 10 of this Title~~).

- F. Disenrollment Effective Date. Regardless of the reason for disenrollment, all disenrollments from PACE will become effective at midnight of the last day of the month in which the disenrollment is requested.

1.7013.6 Disenrollment Appeal

If the member files a written appeal of the disenrollment within ten (10) days of the decision to disenroll, the disenrollment shall be delayed until the appeal is resolved.

1.7013.7 Re-enrollment and Transition Out of PACE

All re-enrollments will be treated as new enrollments except when a participant re-enrolls within two months after losing Medicaid eligibility. In this situation, the participant's re-enrollment will not be treated as a new enrollment. The PACE provider shall assist participants whose enrollment ceased for any reason in obtaining necessary transitional care through appropriate referrals, by making medical records available to the participant's new service providers, and (if applicable), by working with EOHHS to reinstate the participant's benefits.

~~1.71~~ 1.14 PACE Benefit Package

- A. CMS and EOHHS approve PACE providers who are responsible for providing the full scope of Medicare (if eligible) and Medicaid State Plan and waiver services, including but not limited to:
1. Multidisciplinary assessment and treatment planning;
 2. Case Management services;
 3. Personal Care;
 4. Homemaking;
 5. Rehabilitation;
 6. Social Work;
 7. Transportation;
 8. Nutritional Counseling;
 9. Recreational Therapy;
 10. Minor Home Modifications; and
 11. Specialized Medical Equipment and Supplies.

- B. The PACE program is voluntary for any eligible person, but if an individual selects this program, he/she must get all medical and support services through PACE. There are no benefits outside of the PACE program.

~~1.72 - 1.79 Reserved~~

~~1.80 Severability~~

~~— If any provisions of these regulations or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the provisions or application of these regulations which can be given effect, and to this end the provisions of these regulations are declared to be severable.~~

~~1.81~~ 1.15 Federal poverty limits (FPLs) 2018

| Federal Poverty Level - 2018 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Percent of Poverty | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Family Size | 100% | 108% | 110% | 116% | 125% | 133% | 138% | 141% | 145% | 150% | 155% | 160% | 175% | 180% | 185% | 190% | 195% |
| 1 | \$ 12,140 | \$ 13,111 | \$ 13,354 | \$ 14,082 | \$ 15,175 | \$ 16,146 | \$ 16,753 | \$ 17,117 | \$ 17,603 | \$ 18,210 | \$ 18,817 | \$ 19,424 | \$ 21,245 | \$ 21,852 | \$ 22,459 | \$ 23,066 | \$ 23,673 |
| 2 | \$ 16,460 | \$ 17,777 | \$ 18,106 | \$ 19,094 | \$ 20,575 | \$ 21,892 | \$ 22,715 | \$ 23,209 | \$ 23,867 | \$ 24,690 | \$ 25,513 | \$ 26,336 | \$ 28,805 | \$ 29,628 | \$ 30,451 | \$ 31,274 | \$ 32,097 |
| 3 | \$ 20,780 | \$ 22,442 | \$ 22,858 | \$ 24,105 | \$ 25,975 | \$ 27,637 | \$ 28,676 | \$ 29,300 | \$ 30,131 | \$ 31,170 | \$ 32,209 | \$ 33,248 | \$ 36,365 | \$ 37,404 | \$ 38,443 | \$ 39,482 | \$ 40,521 |
| 4 | \$ 25,100 | \$ 27,108 | \$ 27,610 | \$ 29,116 | \$ 31,375 | \$ 33,383 | \$ 34,638 | \$ 35,391 | \$ 36,395 | \$ 37,650 | \$ 38,905 | \$ 40,160 | \$ 43,325 | \$ 44,580 | \$ 45,835 | \$ 47,090 | \$ 48,345 |
| 5 | \$ 29,420 | \$ 31,774 | \$ 32,362 | \$ 34,127 | \$ 36,775 | \$ 39,129 | \$ 40,600 | \$ 41,482 | \$ 42,659 | \$ 44,130 | \$ 45,601 | \$ 47,072 | \$ 51,485 | \$ 52,956 | \$ 54,427 | \$ 55,898 | \$ 57,369 |
| 6 | \$ 33,740 | \$ 36,439 | \$ 37,114 | \$ 39,138 | \$ 42,175 | \$ 44,874 | \$ 46,561 | \$ 47,573 | \$ 48,923 | \$ 50,610 | \$ 52,297 | \$ 53,984 | \$ 59,045 | \$ 60,732 | \$ 62,419 | \$ 64,106 | \$ 65,793 |
| 7 | \$ 38,060 | \$ 41,105 | \$ 41,866 | \$ 44,150 | \$ 47,575 | \$ 50,620 | \$ 52,523 | \$ 53,665 | \$ 55,187 | \$ 57,090 | \$ 58,993 | \$ 60,896 | \$ 66,605 | \$ 68,508 | \$ 70,411 | \$ 72,314 | \$ 74,217 |
| 8 | \$ 42,380 | \$ 45,770 | \$ 46,618 | \$ 49,161 | \$ 52,975 | \$ 56,365 | \$ 58,484 | \$ 59,756 | \$ 61,451 | \$ 63,570 | \$ 65,689 | \$ 67,808 | \$ 74,165 | \$ 76,284 | \$ 78,403 | \$ 80,522 | \$ 82,641 |

| Federal Poverty Level - 2018 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|--|
| Percent of Poverty | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Family Size | 100% | 200% | 215% | 220% | 225% | 250% | 253% | 261% | 275% | 300% | 320% | 325% | 350% | 400% | |
| 1 | \$ 12,140 | \$ 24,280 | \$ 26,101 | \$ 26,708 | \$ 27,315 | \$ 30,350 | \$ 30,714 | \$ 31,685 | \$ 33,385 | \$ 36,420 | \$ 38,848 | \$ 39,455 | \$ 42,490 | \$ 48,560 | |
| 2 | \$ 16,460 | \$ 32,920 | \$ 35,389 | \$ 36,212 | \$ 37,035 | \$ 41,150 | \$ 41,644 | \$ 42,361 | \$ 45,265 | \$ 49,380 | \$ 52,672 | \$ 53,495 | \$ 57,610 | \$ 65,840 | |
| 3 | \$ 20,780 | \$ 41,560 | \$ 44,677 | \$ 45,716 | \$ 46,755 | \$ 51,950 | \$ 52,573 | \$ 54,236 | \$ 57,145 | \$ 62,340 | \$ 66,496 | \$ 67,535 | \$ 72,730 | \$ 83,120 | |
| 4 | \$ 25,100 | \$ 50,200 | \$ 53,365 | \$ 55,220 | \$ 56,475 | \$ 62,750 | \$ 63,503 | \$ 65,511 | \$ 69,025 | \$ 75,300 | \$ 80,320 | \$ 81,575 | \$ 87,850 | \$ 100,400 | |
| 5 | \$ 29,420 | \$ 58,840 | \$ 63,253 | \$ 64,724 | \$ 66,195 | \$ 73,550 | \$ 74,433 | \$ 76,786 | \$ 80,905 | \$ 88,260 | \$ 94,144 | \$ 95,615 | \$ 102,970 | \$ 117,680 | |
| 6 | \$ 33,740 | \$ 67,480 | \$ 72,541 | \$ 74,228 | \$ 75,915 | \$ 84,350 | \$ 85,362 | \$ 88,061 | \$ 92,785 | \$ 101,220 | \$ 107,968 | \$ 109,655 | \$ 118,090 | \$ 134,960 | |
| 7 | \$ 38,060 | \$ 76,120 | \$ 81,829 | \$ 83,732 | \$ 85,635 | \$ 95,150 | \$ 96,292 | \$ 99,337 | \$ 104,665 | \$ 114,180 | \$ 121,792 | \$ 123,695 | \$ 133,210 | \$ 152,240 | |
| 8 | \$ 42,380 | \$ 84,760 | \$ 91,117 | \$ 93,236 | \$ 95,355 | \$ 105,950 | \$ 107,221 | \$ 110,612 | \$ 116,545 | \$ 127,140 | \$ 135,616 | \$ 137,735 | \$ 148,330 | \$ 169,520 | |

| Federal Poverty Level - 2018 - Monthly | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| Percent of Poverty | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Family Size | 100% | 108% | 110% | 116% | 125% | 133% | 138% | 141% | 145% | 150% | 155% | 160% | 175% | 180% | 185% | 190% | 195% |
| 1 | \$ 1,011.67 | \$ 1,092.60 | \$ 1,112.83 | \$ 1,173.53 | \$ 1,264.58 | \$ 1,345.52 | \$ 1,396.10 | \$ 1,426.45 | \$ 1,466.92 | \$ 1,517.50 | \$ 1,568.08 | \$ 1,618.67 | \$ 1,770.42 | \$ 1,821.00 | \$ 1,871.58 | \$ 1,922.17 | \$ 1,972.75 |
| 2 | \$ 1,371.67 | \$ 1,481.40 | \$ 1,508.83 | \$ 1,591.13 | \$ 1,714.58 | \$ 1,824.32 | \$ 1,892.90 | \$ 1,934.05 | \$ 1,988.92 | \$ 2,057.50 | \$ 2,126.08 | \$ 2,194.67 | \$ 2,400.42 | \$ 2,469.00 | \$ 2,537.58 | \$ 2,606.17 | \$ 2,674.75 |
| 3 | \$ 1,731.67 | \$ 1,870.20 | \$ 1,904.83 | \$ 2,008.73 | \$ 2,164.58 | \$ 2,303.12 | \$ 2,389.70 | \$ 2,441.65 | \$ 2,510.92 | \$ 2,597.50 | \$ 2,684.08 | \$ 2,770.67 | \$ 3,030.42 | \$ 3,117.00 | \$ 3,203.58 | \$ 3,290.17 | \$ 3,376.75 |
| 4 | \$ 2,091.67 | \$ 2,259.00 | \$ 2,300.83 | \$ 2,426.33 | \$ 2,614.58 | \$ 2,781.92 | \$ 2,886.50 | \$ 2,949.25 | \$ 3,032.92 | \$ 3,137.50 | \$ 3,242.08 | \$ 3,346.67 | \$ 3,660.42 | \$ 3,765.00 | \$ 3,869.58 | \$ 3,974.17 | \$ 4,078.75 |
| 5 | \$ 2,451.67 | \$ 2,647.80 | \$ 2,696.83 | \$ 2,843.93 | \$ 3,064.58 | \$ 3,260.72 | \$ 3,383.30 | \$ 3,456.85 | \$ 3,554.92 | \$ 3,677.50 | \$ 3,800.08 | \$ 3,922.67 | \$ 4,290.42 | \$ 4,413.00 | \$ 4,535.58 | \$ 4,658.17 | \$ 4,780.75 |
| 6 | \$ 2,811.67 | \$ 3,036.60 | \$ 3,092.83 | \$ 3,261.53 | \$ 3,514.58 | \$ 3,739.52 | \$ 3,880.10 | \$ 3,964.45 | \$ 4,076.92 | \$ 4,217.50 | \$ 4,358.08 | \$ 4,498.67 | \$ 4,920.42 | \$ 5,061.00 | \$ 5,201.58 | \$ 5,342.17 | \$ 5,482.75 |
| 7 | \$ 3,171.67 | \$ 3,425.40 | \$ 3,488.83 | \$ 3,679.13 | \$ 3,964.58 | \$ 4,218.32 | \$ 4,376.90 | \$ 4,472.05 | \$ 4,598.92 | \$ 4,757.50 | \$ 4,916.08 | \$ 5,074.67 | \$ 5,550.42 | \$ 5,709.00 | \$ 5,867.58 | \$ 6,026.17 | \$ 6,184.75 |
| 8 | \$ 3,531.67 | \$ 3,814.20 | \$ 3,884.83 | \$ 4,096.73 | \$ 4,414.58 | \$ 4,697.12 | \$ 4,873.70 | \$ 4,979.65 | \$ 5,120.92 | \$ 5,297.50 | \$ 5,474.08 | \$ 5,650.67 | \$ 6,180.42 | \$ 6,357.00 | \$ 6,533.58 | \$ 6,710.17 | \$ 6,886.75 |

| Federal Poverty Level - 2018 - Monthly | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--|
| Percent of Poverty | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Family Size | 100% | 200% | 215% | 220% | 225% | 250% | 253% | 261% | 275% | 300% | 320% | 325% | 350% | 400% | |
| 1 | \$ 1,011.67 | \$ 2,023.33 | \$ 2,175.08 | \$ 2,225.67 | \$ 2,276.25 | \$ 2,529.17 | \$ 2,559.52 | \$ 2,640.45 | \$ 2,782.08 | \$ 3,035.00 | \$ 3,237.33 | \$ 3,287.92 | \$ 3,540.83 | \$ 4,046.67 | |
| 2 | \$ 1,371.67 | \$ 2,743.33 | \$ 2,949.08 | \$ 3,017.67 | \$ 3,086.25 | \$ 3,429.17 | \$ 3,470.32 | \$ 3,580.05 | \$ 3,772.08 | \$ 4,115.00 | \$ 4,389.33 | \$ 4,457.92 | \$ 4,800.83 | \$ 5,486.67 | |
| 3 | \$ 1,731.67 | \$ 3,463.33 | \$ 3,723.08 | \$ 3,809.67 | \$ 3,896.25 | \$ 4,329.17 | \$ 4,381.12 | \$ 4,519.65 | \$ 4,762.08 | \$ 5,195.00 | \$ 5,541.33 | \$ 5,627.92 | \$ 6,060.83 | \$ 6,926.67 | |
| 4 | \$ 2,091.67 | \$ 4,183.33 | \$ 4,437.08 | \$ 4,601.67 | \$ 4,706.25 | \$ 5,229.17 | \$ 5,291.92 | \$ 5,459.25 | \$ 5,752.08 | \$ 6,275.00 | \$ 6,693.33 | \$ 6,797.92 | \$ 7,320.83 | \$ 8,366.67 | |
| 5 | \$ 2,451.67 | \$ 4,903.33 | \$ 5,271.08 | \$ 5,393.67 | \$ 5,516.25 | \$ 6,129.17 | \$ 6,202.72 | \$ 6,398.85 | \$ 6,742.08 | \$ 7,355.00 | \$ 7,845.33 | \$ 7,967.92 | \$ 8,580.83 | \$ 9,806.67 | |
| 6 | \$ 2,811.67 | \$ 5,623.33 | \$ 6,045.08 | \$ 6,185.67 | \$ 6,326.25 | \$ 7,029.17 | \$ 7,113.52 | \$ 7,338.45 | \$ 7,732.08 | \$ 8,435.00 | \$ 8,997.33 | \$ 9,137.92 | \$ 9,840.83 | \$ 11,246.67 | |
| 7 | \$ 3,171.67 | \$ 6,343.33 | \$ 6,819.08 | \$ 6,977.67 | \$ 7,136.25 | \$ 7,929.17 | \$ 8,024.32 | \$ 8,278.05 | \$ 8,722.08 | \$ 9,515.00 | \$ 10,149.33 | \$ 10,307.92 | \$ 11,100.83 | \$ 12,686.67 | |
| 8 | \$ 3,531.67 | \$ 7,063.33 | \$ 7,593.08 | \$ 7,763.67 | \$ 7,946.25 | \$ 8,829.17 | \$ 8,935.12 | \$ 9,217.65 | \$ 9,712.08 | \$ 10,595.00 | \$ 11,301.33 | \$ 11,477.92 | \$ 12,360.83 | \$ 14,126.67 | |